FILED 11-01-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT**

Filed 11-01-2022

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2020AP000819 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

WILSON P. ANDERSON,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

Appeal from an Order of Commitment for Treatment (Incompetency) Entered by the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, Honorable David A. Feiss, Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

DAVID J. SUSENS Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1099463

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-2124 susensd@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Wilson P. Anderson

Filed 11-01-2022

ISSUE PRESENTED

In 2003, the United States Supreme Court held that the government may only involuntarily mediate defendants solely to treat them to competency in limited circumstances. Sell v. United States, 539 U.S. 166 (2003). In 2019, this court held that circuit courts must follow Sell and may order involuntary medication to restore a defendant's competency only when the four factors identified in Sell are met. State v. Fitzgerald, 2019 WI 69, ¶35, 387 Wis. 2d 384, 929 N.W.2d 165.

Here, the circuit court declared Wilson P. Anderson incompetent to stand trial, suspended the misdemeanor criminal proceedings, and committed him for treatment under Wis. Stat. § 971.14. The state did not present a treatment plan or any testimony from a licensed physician. Instead, the circuit court authorized involuntary administration the medication based solely on the testimony of a forensic psychologist, Deborah Collins, Psy.D.

The issue presented is:

Did the involuntary medication order violate due process because the state failed to meet its burden to prove the second, third, and fourth Sell factors by clear and convincing evidence?

Over Anderson's objection, the circuit court found the Dr. Collins, who is not a licensed physician, was qualified to offer her opinion on the Sell factors.

Filed 11-01-2022

(R.18:7-8; App. 24-25). The circuit court found that the state met its burden under *Sell* and ordered involuntary medication without requiring the state to present a treatment plan and testimony from a licensed physician. (R.18:29-32; App. 46-48).

The court of appeals affirmed, concluded that the trial court applied the *Sell* factors to the facts of the case, and found sufficient evidence in the record to support the trial court's findings. *State v. Anderson*, No. 2020AP819-CR, unpublished slip op., ¶35 (March 16, 2021) (App. 15-16). The court of appeals was unconcerned about the lack of a treatment plan because Dr. Collins' testimony showed that "treatment for Anderson's condition . . . is known to require the use of psychotropic medications." *Id.*, ¶33 (App. 15).

In affirming the circuit court's order, the court of appeals rejected Anderson's argument that Dr. Collins was not qualified to testify as an expert on the issue of involuntary medication under Sell because she was not a licensed physician. Id., ¶¶27-31 (App. 12-14).

This court should reverse the court of appeals and circuit court, remand, and instruct the circuit court to vacate the involuntary medication order.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument and publication are customary for this court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Like many other Wisconsinites living with mental illness, Wilson P. Anderson was subjected to court ordered involuntarily medication based on testimony about "whether or not he's competent to make treatment decisions." (R.18:7; App. 24). That testimony came from a psychologist who is not a medical doctor and cannot prescribe medications. (R.18:6; App. 23). This is a case about whether due process demands more specific proof about the efficacy, side effects, and necessity of medication before Wisconsin courts allow the government to forcibly medicate a defendant solely to restore trial competency.

On March 4, 2020, the state alleged Anderson hit a stranger on the head without provocation which caused her pain. (R.1:1). The next day, the state charged Anderson with disorderly conduct and misdemeanor battery. (*Id.*). The day after the complaint was filed, the circuit court ordered a competency evaluation. (R.2:1-2).

Two days later, Deborah L. Collins, Psy.D., conducted the competency evaluation at the Milwaukee County Criminal Justice Facility (R.3:1). Dr. Collins is a board-certified forensic psychologist with 20 years of experience conducting forensic evaluations. (R.18:5; App. 22). She has "conducted hundreds of competency evaluations and testified in court relative to them." (*Id.*). Dr. Collins is

not a licensed physician and cannot prescribe medications to anyone. (R.18:5-6; App. 22-23).

Dr. Collins filed a confidential competency report on March 19, 2020. (*Id.*). In her report, Dr. Collins diagnosed Anderson with schizoaffective disorder and concluded that he was not competent to stand trial but would likely become competent within the statutory timeframe with "psychiatric treatment at a state mental health institute." (R.3:4-5). The report did not make any recommendations related to psychotropic medications.

After Anderson requested contested a competency hearing, the court asked Dr. Collins to file an addendum to her report with a specific opinion on the need for involuntary medication. (R.17:4). In the addendum she repeated her recommendation that Anderson receive treatment at a state institute. (R.4:1). She added that Anderson was not competent to make treatment decisions, treatment was unlikely to have side effects that would interfere with his ability to assist in his defense, treatment is necessary, and treatment is in his best medical interest. (R.4:1-2). Thus, Dr. Collins concluded that "it is this examiner's opinion that Mr. Anderson competent to make treatment decisions, including with respect to psychotropic medications. (R.4:2). She did not identify the type of treatment she proposed and did not identify any particular medications or side effects.

court reconvened for the contested competency hearing on April 9, 2020. Anderson apparently refused to come to the courtroom and the court found that he forfeited his right to be present. (R.18:3; App. 20-21). Dr. Collins was the only witness at the hearing. Anderson agreed that she was qualified to testify about his competency but objected to her testimony on the question of involuntary medication. (R.18:7; App. 24). Anderson argued that there was "no foundation to suggest that she has the necessary knowledge" testify to as an involuntary medication. (R.18:6; App. 23).

In response to the objection, Dr. Collins acknowledged that she has no training as a medical doctor and cannot prescribe medications. (R.18:5-6; App. 22-23). She testified that she knows "the functional criteria and the statutes and Sell criteria that are relevant to making—offering opinions regarding an individual's competency to make treatment decisions." (R.18:6; App. 23). She explained that "[n]o evaluator, psychiatrist, or psychologist in their role as a forensic evaluator of competency is prescribing a medication to a defendant." (R.18:6-7; App. 23-24). She testified that medication "aligns with her opinion on Wisconsin state statutes for evaluating competency and what needs to be taken into account." (R.18:7; App. 24).

The court overruled Anderson's objection. Here is all the court's comments on the objection:

All right. And at this point, I am going to find that Dr. Collins has 20 years of experience conducting competency evaluations. As part of that experience, she on a regular basis is asked or is what required to determine someone's psychiatric conditions are, even though she's not entitled to prescribe medications. I believe that based on her 20—her training and her 20 years of experience, that she has an expertise that would be of assistance to the finder of fact, not just on the competence, but also on the issue of whether medication is appropriate and in an individual's medical interest and whether or not they are competent to make that decision on their own. So I will allow her to testify on both facets.

(R.18:7-8; App. 24-25).

Dr. Collins testified that she met with Anderson for only 15 minutes because Anderson was agitated and she could not understand what he was saying. (R.18:10; App. 27). Dr. Collins explained that she also reviewed "CJF medical records" that documented difficulties, poor hygiene, and mental illness. (R.18:10-11; App. 27-28). Those records revealed that Anderson was not prescribed psychotropic medications and that "he simply wasn't receiving treatment for his recognized mental illness." (R.18:11; App. 28). Dr. Collins diagnosed Anderson with "schizoaffective disorder" and explained that

"there wasn't much time for him to have been evaluated by a psychiatrist and initiated on medications." (R.18:11-12; App. 28-29).

Dr. Collins contended that Anderson was not competent to proceed but was "more likely than not to become competent or to be restored to competency with psychiatric treatment and within the permissible timeframe if he is provided with such treatment at a state mental health institute." (R.18:12-13; App. 29-30). Without specifying any medication potential side effects, Dr. Collins testified that "psychiatric treatment is unlikely, substantially unlikely, to have side effects which would interfere significantly with Mr. Anderson's capacity to aid in his defense, because those side effects are also treatable or addressable with medications." (R.18:13; App. 30).

When the prosecutor asked about "the *Sell* versus United States factors," Dr. Collins explained that her addendum clarified her "opinion essentially that Mr. Anderson was not competent to make treatment decisions with respect to psychotropic medications in particular, and that he requires treatment." (R.18:15; App. 32).

On cross-examination, Dr. Collins explained that it is "not the role of a competency evaluator" to decide which medication, dose, or duration of treatment would be appropriate for Anderson. (R.18:17; App. 34). She testified that she is "unable to testify to those questions" and had no conversations

Filed 11-01-2022

with anyone from Mendota or Winnebago who could answer those questions. (R.18:18; App. 35).

Anderson objected to involuntary medication because the state did not offer the opinion of a medical doctor and produced no testimony about a treatment plan, the types of medication that may be administered, and whether those medications were appropriate for Mr. Anderson. (R.18:26; App. 43).

of finding that Anderson top not competent, the circuit court found that the state proved each of the *Sell* factors. The court relied heavily on the government's allegation that Anderson committed a battery against a person, that Anderson's behavior revealed serious mental health issues, and that Dr. Collins had substantial experience in forensic psychology. (R.18:28-32; App. 45-49). The court also considered "the fact that Mr. Anderson wasn't cooperative and wouldn't come to court today" as evidence that medication is necessary. (R.18:30; App. 47).

Based on those findings, the circuit court suspended the criminal case, ordered Anderson committed to the Department of Health Services, and ordered involuntary medication. (R.7:1-2; App. 52-53). Anderson filed a notice of appeal and the involuntary medication order was stayed pending appeal. (R.12, R.17; App. 53).

In the court of appeals, Anderson argued that the state failed to meet its burden under Sell and that Dr. Collins was not qualified to testify on the question

Filed 11-01-2022

of involuntary medication. The court of appeals affirmed the circuit court's order in an unpublished decision. (App. 3-16). In its decision, the court of appeals rejected Anderson's argument that the state needed to present an individualized treatment plan and found that the circuit court properly exercised its discretion to admit Dr. Collins' testimony on involuntary medication. (App. 14-15).

Anderson moved for reconsideration under Wis. Stat. § 809.24(1) asking the court to reconsider its decision because it conflicted with State v. Green, 2021 WI App 18, 396 Wis. 2d 658, 957 N.W.2d 583, aff'd in part, 2022 WI 30, 401 Wis. 2d 542, 973 N.W.2d 770. (Anderson's Recons. Mot. 2-6). Green was issued and recommended for publication before the court issued its decision here. Green was ordered published on March 31, 2021, and the court of appeals denied the reconsideration motion on May 4, 2021. (Order Den. Recons. Mot.).

This Court held Anderson's petition for review in abeyance pending this Court's decision in *Green*. (Order, Sept. 14, 2021). After this Court decided Green, it ordered the parties to simultaneously brief the effect of Green. (Order, May 13, 2022). This Court granted review on September 14, 2022. Anderson now asks this Court to reverse the court of appeals and remand to the circuit court with orders to vacate the involuntary medication order.

ARGUMENT

Involuntary commitment produces a "massive curtailment of liberty" for any committed individual. *Humphrey v. Cady*, 405 U.S. 504, 509 (1972). When, as here, the government seeks to forcibly medicate a defendant solely to restore trial competency, involuntary medication is only constitutionally permissible when an "essential or overriding state interest" overcomes the individual's "significant constitutionally protected liberty interest" in avoiding involuntary medication. *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 178-79 (internal citations omitted).

Anderson does not dispute the circuit court's competency findings that prompted his commitment. But "[i]ncompetence to refuse medication alone is not essential or overriding state Winnebago Cty. v. C.S., 2020 WI 33, ¶33, 391 Wis. 2d 35, 940 N.W.2d 875 (internal citations omitted). Because the circuit court ordered him forcibly medicated without a treatment plan and without sufficient evidence to meet the four Sell factors, the involuntary medication order "unconstitutionally infringes" Anderson's "liberty interest in avoiding the unwanted administration of anti-psychotic drugs." Fitzgerald, 2019 WI 69, ¶32

This Court should reverse the decision of the court of appeals and remand to the circuit court with instructions to vacate the involuntary medication order. In doing so, this court can provide the guidance needed for circuit courts to incorporate

Sell's substantive requirements into the existing procedures of § 971.14.

I. The *Sell* factors, the procedures of Wis. Stat. § 971.14, and the standard of review.

Nearly 20 years ago, the Supreme Court held that the government can only overcome the "significant constitutionally protected liberty interest" in avoiding involuntary medication by proving an "essential or overriding state interest." *Sell*, 539 U.S., at 178-79 (internal citations omitted). The *Sell* court established a four-factor test to determine when involuntary medication is constitutionally permissible solely to restore an individual's trial competency.

Sell has bound Wisconsin courts since 2003. Yet authorized § 971.14 until 2019. Wis. Stat. involuntary medication to treat a person to trial competency without considering Sell's requirements. In 2019, this Court confirmed that the Sell test is the applicable legal standard for involuntary medication orders in Wisconsin by declaring the substantive medication provisions in § 971.14 unconstitutional. Fitzgerald, 387 Wis. 2d 384, ¶¶14-18. Yet even after Fitzgerald, this case and others reveal a continued struggle to hold the state to its burden under Sell.

A. Sell's substantive requirements.

To meet its burden under *Sell*, the state must first prove that "*important* governmental interests are at stake." *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180 (emphasis in original).

This requires proof that medication aims to bring "to trial an individual accused of a serious crime." *Id.* To find for the government on the first factor, the court "must consider the facts of the individual case in evaluating the Government's interest in prosecution." Id.

Second, the state must prove that "involuntary medication will *significantly further* the government's interest in prosecuting the offense." Id. at 181 (emphasis in original). To meet its burden on the second factor, the state must prove administration of the drugs is substantially likely to render the defendant competent to stand trial" and "substantially unlikely to have side effects that will interfere significantly with the defendant's ability to assist counsel in conducting a trial defense, thereby rendering the trial unfair." Id.

Third, the state must prove "that involuntary medication is *necessary* to further those interests." *Id.* (emphasis in original). This factor requires clear and convincing evidence that "any alternative, less unlikely intrusive treatments are to substantially the same result." Id. In evaluating this factor, the court "must consider less intrusive means for administering the drugs, e.g., a court order to the defendant backed by the contempt power, before considering more intrusive methods." Id.

Fourth, the "that state prove administration of the drugs is *medically appropriate*, i.e., in the patient's best medical interest in light of his [or her] medical condition." *Id.* (emphasis in original). Because "[d]ifferent kinds of antipsychotic drugs may produce different side effects and enjoy different levels of success," courts should consider "the specific kinds of drugs at issue." *Id.*

In evaluating these factors, the task of the court is to answer the following: "Has the Government, in light of the efficacy, the side effects, the possible alternatives, and the medical appropriateness of a particular course of antipsychotic drug treatment, shown a need for that treatment sufficiently important to overcome the individual's protected interest in refusing it?" *Id.* at 183 (citing *Washington v. Harper*, 494 U.S. 210, 229 (1990); *Riggins v. Nevada*, 504 U.S. 127, 134-35 (1992)). While the Constitution may permit forcible medication in some cases, "[t]hose instances may be rare." *Id.* at 180. If the state does not meet the high burden established in *Sell*, involuntary medication is unconstitutional. *Fitzgerald*, 387 Wis. 2d 384, ¶32.

Recently, this Court reaffirmed that defendant's liberty interest in refusing involuntary medication at the pretrial stage of criminal proceedings" can be overcome only when "each one of the factors set out in Sell v. United States" is met. Green, 401 Wis. 2d 542, ¶2. The state bears the burden to prove each of the four Sell factors by clear and convincing evidence. Green, 396 Wis. 2d 658, ¶16; United States v. James, 938 F.2d 719, 723 (5th Cir. 2019) (collecting cases to show that all ten federal circuit courts that have considered the question agree

on this burden and standard of proof.) If the state failed to prove any of the four Sell factors, the involuntary medication order violates the Due Process Clause and is unconstitutional. Sell, 539 U.S. at 179.

B. The procedural provisions of § 971.14.

Wisconsin Stat. § 971.14 governs proceedings when there is reason to doubt the accused's competency to stand trial and when the government requests involuntary medication to treat the accused to competency. As discussed above, this Court has declared that the substantive standard for involuntary medication in § 971.12(3)(dm) and (4)(b)unconstitutional to the extent they do not follow Sell. Fitzgerald, 387 Wis. 2d 384, ¶2. Yet the legislature has not amended § 971.14 in response to Fitzgerald and Wisconsin courts can and should incorporate the substantive requirements of Sell into the procedural framework of § 971.14.

Under § 971.14(2)(a), if there is reason to doubt a defendant's competency, the court appoints an examiner with specialized knowledge to conduct a competency examination. During the competency evaluation, the examiner is tasked under § 971.14(3) with determining the defendant's present mental capacity to understand the proceedings and assist in the defense. Only "if sufficient information is available," the examiner provides an opinion on the need for medication and the defendant's ability to make medication or treatment decisions. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(3)(dm). This requirement was meant to align

§ 971.14 with Chapter 51 and to protect the individual's constitutional right to informed consent related to psychotropic drugs. *Outagamie Cty. v. Melanie L.*, 2013 WI 67, ¶¶45-52, 343 Wis. 2d 148, 833 N.W.2d 607.

At this stage, a competency examiner need not determine the defendant's need for medication or competency to refuse medication. *See* Wis. Stat. § 971.14(3)(dm). Thus, competency examiners need not be licensed physicians. Often, like Dr. Collins here, competency evaluations are conducted by qualified psychologists from the Wisconsin Forensic Unit. ¹

Once the examiner submits their report, the court conducts a hearing on competency under § 971.14(4). If the court finds—by clear and convincing evidence—that the defendant is incompetent to stand trial but likely to regain competency within the specified period, the court commits the defendant to the custody of the Department of Health Services (DHS) for treatment under § 971.14(5)(a). While the state may then prove—by clear and convincing evidence—that the defendant is not competent to refuse medication or treatment, at this stage it need not and the court may not order involuntary medication unless the state proves each *Sell* factor. *Fitzgerald*, 2019 WI 69, ¶32.

¹ Dr. Collins is the Director of the Wisconsin Forensic Unit. (R.18:5; App. 22).

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