Filed 12-15-2022

FILED 12-15-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2020AP819-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

WILSON P. ANDERSON,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER FOR COMMITMENT AND INVOLUNTARY MEDICATION ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DAVID A. FEISS, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KARA L. JANSON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1081358

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Sell provides a four-part test to obtain an involuntary-medication order to restore trial competency. An individualized treatment plan that details the proposed medication and the defendant's medical history and conditions is the necessary first step to proving Sell factors two through four. The State didn't offer a treatment plan for Anderson. There being no particularized information to consider, the circuit court erred in ordering involuntary medication.

Anderson is entitled to relief regardless of whether the State must offer a licensed physician's opinion to prove the *Sell* factors, so that issue isn't dispositive. Historically, this Court decides cases on the narrowest possible grounds—it doesn't need to consider non-dispositive issues. Faithful adherence to that prudent practice dictates ending the analysis here.

If this Court reaches out anyway, it should reject Anderson's request for a blanket rule that the State must offer a licensed physician's opinion to prove the *Sell* factors. Neither *Sell* nor any other authority requires as much. And such a rigid rule strips circuit courts of their considerable leeway in deciding whether to admit expert testimony to assist them in their decision-making.

This Court must reverse, but circuit courts conducting Sell hearings shouldn't feel hamstrung as a result.

ARGUMENT

The State didn't prove the Sell factors in obtaining the involuntary medication order.

A. Sell provides the standard for involuntary medication to restore trial competency.

Because individuals have a significant liberty interest in avoiding unwanted medication, Sell makes it difficult for the government to force medication to restore trial competency. See Sell v. United States, 539 U.S. 166, 178–82 (2003). There's a four-factor test to determine "whether such is constitutionally appropriate." medication Fitzgerald, 2019 WI 69, ¶ 13, 387 Wis. 2d 384, 929 N.W.2d 165.

The first Sell factor asks whether an important governmental interest is at stake. Sell, 539 U.S. at 180. "The Government's interest in bringing to trial an individual accused of a serious crime is important." *Id.* It doesn't matter whether it's "a serious crime against the person or a serious crime against property." Id. "In both instances the Government seeks to protect through application of the criminal law the basic human need for security." Id. This first factor isn't at issue in this case.⁵

factor two questions whether involuntary medication will significantly further the State's interest. Sell, 539 U.S. at 181. The answer is yes if (1) "administration of the drugs is substantially likely to render the defendant competent to stand trial," and (2) "administration of the drugs is substantially unlikely to have side effects that will interfere

⁵ Anderson has abandoned any argument that the State didn't prove the first Sell factor. (Anderson's Br. 34.)

significantly with the defendant's ability to assist" in his defense. *Id*.

The third *Sell* factor asks whether involuntary medication is necessary to further the State's interest. *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 181. Like the second *Sell* factor, there's two areas of focus here: (1) the court "must find that any alternative, less intrusive treatments are unlikely to achieve substantially the same results," and (2) "the court must consider less intrusive means for administering the drugs . . . before considering more intrusive methods." *Id*.

Finally, *Sell* factor four questions whether involuntary medication is medically appropriate, meaning "in the patient's best medical interest in light of his medical condition." *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 181.

Aside from noting that involuntary medication to restore trial competency "may be rare" under its four-factor test, the Supreme Court offered little guidance on what exactly a government must do to meet its burden. *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180. This has been left to the lower federal and state courts to flesh out.

Here's what we know about the *Sell* test so far. The State "is required to prove the factual components of each of the four factors by clear and convincing evidence." *Green*, 396 Wis. 2d 658, ¶ 16. And "[w]hile *Sell* does not explicitly identify what level of specificity is required in a court's order for involuntary medication . . . the need for a high level of detail is plainly contemplated by the comprehensive findings *Sell* requires." *United States v. Chavez*, 734 F.3d 1247, 1252 (10th Cir. 2013). The government cannot meet its "high" burden by offering "a general opinion that ha[s] no connection to [the defendant] individually." *Green*, 396 Wis. 2d 658, ¶¶ 32, 34. Rather, an individualized treatment plan "is the necessary first step to fulfilling the second, third, and fourth *Sell*

requirements." *Id.* ¶ 37. Wisconsin isn't alone in this conclusion. *See id.* ¶ 35 (collecting federal cases).

To start, the individualized treatment plan must identify the specific medication or range of medications recommended for the defendant. *Green*, 396 Wis. 2d 658, ¶ 38. Sell plainly requires as much, summarizing its four-part test as follows: "Has the Government, in light of the efficacy, the side effects, the possible alternatives, and the medical appropriateness of a particular course of antipsychotic drug treatment, shown a need for that treatment sufficiently important to overcome the individual's protected interest in refusing it?" Sell, 539 U.S. at 183 (emphasis added). The individualized treatment plan also needs to state "the maximum dosages that may be administered" and "the duration of time that involuntary treatment of the defendant may continue before the treating physicians are required to report back to the court." Green, 396 Wis. 2d 658, ¶ 38 (citation omitted).

But "a treatment plan that identifies the medication, dosage, and duration of treatment" isn't enough to meet *Sell*'s difficult standard. *Green*, 396 Wis. 2d 658, ¶ 38. A "court must consider the individualized treatment plan as applied to the particular defendant." *Id.* Ideally, the plan should address "the defendant's age and weight, the duration of his or her illness, his or her past responses to psychotropic medications, his or her cognitive abilities, other medications he or she takes, and his or her medical record." *Id.* Here again, *Sell* calls for this type of information. *See Sell*, 539 U.S. at 181 (requiring that involuntary medication be in the defendant's best medical interest given his medical condition).

In short, courts are "obligat[ed] to consider particularized information" about the medication *and* the defendant before ordering forced medication under *Sell*. *Green*, 396 Wis. 2d 658, ¶ 51. A "generic treatment plan with a medication and dosage that are generally effective for a

defendant's condition"—or no treatment plan at all—won't suffice. *Id*. ¶ 34.

B. Wisconsin's trial competency statute is unconstitutional because it doesn't comport with *Sell*.

It's true that there's been "a continued struggle to hold the state to its burden under Sell." (Anderson's Br. 17.) This is likely because section 971.14, which authorizes involuntary medication to restore trial competency, provides a different standard than the Sell standard. $See\ Fitzgerald$, 387 Wis. 2d 384, ¶¶ 25–29.

"Wisconsin Stat. § 971.14 requires a circuit court to enter an order for involuntary medication to restore a criminal defendant's competency to proceed provided the statutory parameters are met." Fitzgerald, 387 Wis. 2d 384, ¶ 19. Because the State cannot bring an incompetent defendant to trial, see Wis. Stat. § 971.13(1), section 971.14 obligates a circuit court to order an examination whenever there's a reason to doubt a defendant's competency, Fitzgerald, 387 Wis. 2d 384, ¶ 19. The court "appoints 'one or having the specialized examiners knowledge more determined by the court to be appropriate to examine and report upon the condition of the defendant." Id. (citation omitted).

"If sufficient information is available to the examiner to reach an opinion," the competency examiner's report must include an "opinion on whether the defendant needs medication or treatment and whether the defendant is not competent to refuse medication or treatment." *Fitzgerald*, 387 Wis. 2d 384, ¶ 19 (quoting Wis. Stat. § 971.14(3)(dm)). If a defendant is unable to "express an understanding of medication or make an informed choice about it," he's not competent to refuse medication. *Id.* ¶ 25. When the State proves that the defendant is not competent to refuse

medication, the circuit court must order involuntary medication as part of its initial commitment decision. *Id.* ¶ 20 (citing Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b)).

This Court has concluded that section 971.14 doesn't cover Sell. See Fitzgerald, 387 Wis. 2d 384, ¶ 30 (invoking the omitted-case canon of statutory interpretation). Since section 971.14 doesn't incorporate the Sell standard for involuntary medication, it's unconstitutional. Id. ¶ 25. Circuit courts may order involuntary medication to restore trial competency only where the State meets the Sell factors. Id. ¶ 32. As Anderson notes, our Legislature has not amended section 971.14 in response to Fitzgerald. (Anderson's Br. 20.)

C. The State didn't offer an individualized treatment plan for Anderson, so it failed to meet its burden under *Sell*.

The court of appeals erred in upholding the involuntary medication order in this case because the State fell far short of proving the Sell factors without an individualized treatment plan.⁶

An individualized treatment plan is the "necessary first step" to proving *Sell* factors two through four. *Green*, 396 Wis. 2d 658, ¶ 37. Here, the State's case for involuntary medication shouldn't have made it out of the starting gate because it offered no treatment plan whatsoever. Although Dr. Collins recommended medication to restore Anderson's trial competency because schizoaffective disorder is "essentially and fundamentally a treatable condition," she never identified a medication in her reports or at the

⁶ In the court of appeals, the Milwaukee County District Attorney's office defended the involuntary medication order. The Attorney General's office concedes error consistent with its position in *Green* that an individualized treatment plan is necessary to prove *Sell* factors two through four. *See State v. Green*, 2021 WI App 18, ¶ 37, 396 Wis. 2d 658, 957 N.W.2d 583.

evidentiary hearing. (R. 3; 4; 18:4–21.) This prevented the circuit court from considering a proposed medication's efficacy rate and potential side effects.

Without information about efficacy rates and potential side effects, the circuit court couldn't have found by clear and convincing evidence that involuntary medication would significantly further the State's interest in prosecuting Anderson. To meet this Sell factor, the State must prove that involuntary medication is substantially likely to render the defendant competent and substantially unlikely to have side effects that would significantly interfere with his ability to assist in his defense. Sell, 539 U.S. at 181. Because "[d]ifferent kinds of antipsychotic drugs may produce different side effects and enjoy different levels of success," id., how can a court carefully answer those questions without considering a particular medication? It can't. See Green, 396 Wis. 2d 658, ¶ 34; Sell, 539 U.S. at 183. Saying that Anderson's mental health condition "is essentially and fundamentally a treatable condition" and that unidentified potential side effects "are also treatable or addressable with medications" isn't good enough. (R. 18:13); see United States v. Evans, 404 F.3d 227, 240-41 (4th Cir. 2005) (government must identify the medication and potential side effects at issue).

The failure to identify a particular course of treatment was not the only problem with the State's case for involuntary medication. Dr. Collins also didn't detail Anderson's medical history and conditions. True, she met with Anderson, reviewed his CJF medical records, and considered his past

⁷ Notably, Dr. Collins never opined that involuntary medication was substantially likely to render Anderson competent. (R. 3:5; 4:1; 18:5–21.) Instead, she said that it was "more likely than not" that Anderson would become competent with medication. (R. 18:13.)

contacts with BHD. (R. 3:2; 18:8–11.) But mainly this allowed Dr. Collins to address Anderson's mental health condition. (R. 3:2–5; 18:8–21.)

Sell requires more than evidence of the defendant's mental health condition to decide whether involuntary medication is medically appropriate. See Green, 396 Wis. 2d 658, ¶ 38. Part of the analysis for this fourth factor is whether the proposed medication might be harmful to the defendant's long-term health. See United States v. Ruiz-Gaxiola, 623 F.3d 684, 704–05 (9th Cir. 2010). So, the State must offer specifics about the defendant's "medical history, comorbid medical conditions, and risk factors for side effects." Green, 396 Wis. 2d 658, ¶¶ 40–41. None of that appears in Dr. Collins's reports or testimony. (R. 3; 4; 18:8–21.) As in *Green*, the record here "lacks even basic physical health information such as [Anderson's] height, weight, vitals, and current medications." Green, 396 Wis. 2d 658, ¶ 39. The absence of Anderson's health profile, coupled with the failure to identify a medication's potential side effects, prevented the circuit court from considering the interaction between the proposed drug regimen and Anderson's particular health issues. Thus, the court couldn't have found by clear and convincing evidence that involuntary medication was in Anderson's best medical interest considering his medical condition. See Green, 396 Wis. 2d 658, ¶ 41.

As shown, the absence of an individualized treatment plan torpedoed the State's case for involuntary medication under *Sell* factors two and four. As for factor three—that involuntary medication is necessary to further the State's interest in prosecuting Anderson—it's noteworthy that there was no information about less intrusive means of administering the drugs. (R. 3; 4; 18:8–21, 30–31.) Dr. Collins's reports addressed whether alternative, less intrusive *treatments* were unlikely to achieve substantially the same results as involuntary medication. (R. 3:5; 4:2.) But

Filed 12-15-2022

that's only half the analysis for this third Sell factor. See Sell, 539 U.S. at 181. Since courts are required to "consider less intrusive means for administering the drugs . . . before considering more intrusive methods," id., the circuit court here erred in finding this Sell factor satisfied, (R. 18:30–31). Had the State offered an individualized treatment plan that gave Anderson the opportunity to take the proposed medication voluntarily before receiving it involuntarily, that

In short, the parties agree that the State failed to prove Sell factors two through four at the evidentiary hearing. (Anderson's Br. 34–38.)

would have been sufficient. See Ruiz-Gaxiola, 623 F.3d at 703.

In concluding otherwise, the court of appeals did not the careful scrutiny that Sell requires involuntary-medication orders. It relied on generalized testimony and didn't even apply the correct test in finding that the second Sell factor was satisfied. (Pet-App. 14–15.) The test is not whether involuntary medication "would likely" restore trial competence, as the court of appeals analyzed. (Pet-App. 14.) Rather, there must be a *substantial* likelihood of that result. Sell, 539 U.S. at 181. Further, the test asks about the likelihood that a medication's side effects will significantly interfere with the defendant's ability to assist in his defense, id., and the court of appeals' opinion says nothing about that, (Pet-App. 14). Again, without specific information about efficacy rates and side effects, courts can't carefully answer the question of whether forced medication will significantly further the State's interest in prosecuting a defendant.

The court of appeals' analysis is equally deficient on the third and fourth Sell factors. Testimony that schizoaffective disorder "is very treatable with psychotropic medications" says nothing about whether there are less intrusive means of administering the medication, yet that's what the court of appeals' relied upon to find the third factor fully satisfied.

(Pet-App. 15.) And on the fourth factor, there's more to the equation than whether forced medication will reduce the symptoms of the defendant's mental health challenge. *See Ruiz-Gaxiola*, 623 F.3d at 704–05. But that's all the court of appeals considered in its single sentence on the inquiry. (Pet-App. 15.)

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